IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

JAMES CHAPPELL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed S.C. CASE NO. 619kan 08 2014 08:44 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) AND SENTENCE OF DEATH EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT THE HONORABLE JUDGE CAROLYN ELLSWORTH, PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

.....

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No. 004349 520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 384-5563

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO HOLD AN</u> <u>EVIDENTIARY HEARING.</u>

II. STANDARD FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

- III. MR. CHAPPELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE THIRD PENALTY PHASE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- IV. MR. CHAPPELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF <u>PENALTY PHASE TRIAL COUNSEL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL</u> <u>FOR FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE CUMULATIVE VICTIM</u> <u>IMPACT PANEL IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH,</u> <u>AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES</u> <u>CONSTITUTION.</u>
- V. <u>PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING</u> <u>TO OBJECT TO IMPROPER PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENTS</u> <u>DURING THE PENALTY PHASE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH,</u> <u>SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED</u> <u>STATES CONSTITUTION</u>.
- VI. <u>PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL AND PENALTY PHASE APPELLATE</u> <u>COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE SEVERAL</u> <u>INSTANCES OF IMPROPER PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT</u> <u>WHICH SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED SIMULTANEOUSLY IN MR.</u> <u>CHAPPELL'S APPEAL IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH,</u> <u>EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED</u> <u>STATES CONSTITUTION.</u>
- VII. MR. CHAPPELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO OBJECT TO IMPROPER IMPEACHMENT IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH

AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

- VIII. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE OF SEVERAL BAD ACTS THUS VIOLATING APPELLANT'S FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS AND WARRANTING REVERSAL OF HIS PENALTY PHASE.
- IX. THE DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.
- X. MR. CHAPPELL'S CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE ARE INVALID UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION, TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY AND A RELIABLE SENTENCE BECAUSE THE PROCEEDINGS AGAINST HIM VIOLATED INTERNATIONAL LAW. U.S. CONST. AMENDS. V, VI VIII AND XIV; NEV. CONST. ART. I SECS. 3, 6 AND 8; ART IV, SEC. 21.
- XI. <u>CHAPPELL'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ARE INVALID</u> <u>UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL</u> <u>GUARANTEE OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE</u> <u>LAWS, EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND RELIABLE</u> <u>SENTENCE BECAUSE THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN AT</u> <u>TRIAL WERE FAULTY AND WERE NOT THE SUBJECT OF</u> <u>CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION BY TRIAL COUNSEL, NOT</u> <u>RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL BY APPELLATE COUNSEL, NOT</u> <u>RAISED BY PENALTY PHASE APPELLATE COUNSEL, AND NOT</u> <u>RE-RAISED BY PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL.</u>
- XII. <u>MR. CHAPPELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> COUNSEL BASED UPON CUMULATIVE ERROR.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Argument on the petition was held and Mr. Chappell's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied on October 19, 2012 (21 ROA 4706). The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on November 16, 2012 (20 ROA 4527). Mr. Chappell filed a timely notice of appeal on October 22, 2012 (20 ROA 4515). This Opening Brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant James Chappell was charged, on October 11, 1995, via Information with one count each of burglary, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and open murder with use of a deadly weapon (1 ROA 38). The State based its murder charge on alternative theories of felony murder and premeditated and deliberate murder (1 ROA 39). On November 8, 1995, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty (1 ROA 44). It charged aggravating circumstances of murder in the course of a robbery, murder in the course of burglary, murder while the person was engaged in sexual assault or the attempt thereof, and torture or depravity of mind (1 ROA 44-45). Prior to trial, Chappell filed a motion to dismiss several of the aggravating circumstances (1 ROA 250). He argued in part that the aggravating circumstance of sexual assault should be dismissed because Chappell was not charged with sexual assault and no evidence was presented during the preliminary hearing that would support the aggravating circumstance (1 ROA 256). The State opposed the motion, but did not address the sexual assault issue (2 ROA 309-319). The Court denied the motion.

The jury trial began on October 8, 1996, and was presided over by the Honorable A. William Maupin (2 ROA 355). The jury was instructed on theories of premeditated murder and felony murder (7 ROA 1703, 1721, 1722). The jury was also instructed on robbery in general (7 ROA 1711). On October 16, 1996, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on charges of burglary, robbery, and first degree murder (7 ROA 1747-1749). No special verdict form was given to the jury, so it is unknown as to whether the jurors relied upon the premeditation theory, the felony murder theory, or both in finding Chappell guilty of first degree murder.

The penalty phase of the first trial began on October 21, 1996 (7 ROA 1757). On October 24, 1996, the jury returned its verdicts in which it found mitigating circumstances of murder committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotion disturbance and "any other mitigating circumstances" (9 ROA 2126, 2170-2171). It found aggravating circumstances of burglary, robbery, sexual assault, and torture or depravity of mind and returned a verdict of death (9 ROA 2127-2129, 2167-2169). Formal sentencing took place on December 30, 1996 (9 ROA 2179). The district court sentenced Chappell to the

maximum terms for burglary and robbery with use of a deadly weapon and ordered that those sentences run consecutively to the death sentence (9 ROA 2188).

The judgment of conviction was filed on December 31, 1996 (9 ROA 2190). Chappell filed a timely notice of appeal on January 17, 1997, which was docketed as number 29884 (9 ROA 2200). On December 30, 1998, this Court issued its opinion affirming the conviction (9 ROA 2273); Chappell v. State, 114 Nev. 1403, 972 P.2d 838 (1998). This concluded that the district court erred in failing to hold a Petrocelli hearing, but found admission of evidence of uncharged misconduct to be harmless. Id. at 1406, 972 P.2d at 840. It also concluded that there was sufficient evidence to support the aggravating circumstances of burglary, robbery and sexual assault, but insufficient evidence to support the aggravating circumstance of torture or depravity of mind. Id. at 1407, 972 P.2d at 841. In addressing the robbery aggravating circumstance, this Court noted Chappell's argument that the evidence showed that he took Panos' car as an afterthought and therefore could not be guilty of robbery, but rejected that argument because this Court had held "that in robbery cases it is irrelevant when the intent to steal the property is formed." Id. at 1408, 972 P.2d at 841. Although this Court found torture or depravity of mind aggravating circumstance to be invalid, it re-weighed the remaining three aggravating circumstances and the two mitigating

circumstances, found the aggravating circumstances clearly outweighed the mitigating circumstances, and found that a sentence of death was proper. <u>Id</u>. at 1410-1411, 558 P.2d at 842. This Court also rejected other issues raised by Chappell on appeal. <u>Id</u>. This Court denied rehearing on March 17, 1999 (9 ROA 2288).

Chappell's petition for certiorari was denied on October 4, 1999. <u>Chappell</u> <u>v. Nevada</u>, 528 U.S. 853 (1999). This Court's remittitur issued on November 4, 1999 (10 ROA 2353).

Meanwhile, on October 19, 1999, Chappell filed a proper person postconviction petition for writ of habeas corpus (9 ROA 2258). A supplemental petition was filed on April 30, 2002 (10 ROA 2417). Among other issues, Chappell contended that his conviction was invalid because the jury instruction defining premeditation and deliberation was constitutionally infirm as it did not provide a rational distinction between first and second degree murder (10 ROA 2456-2459)(citing Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000)). He also asserted that the sentence of death was unconstitutional because of the use of overlapping aggravating circumstances (10 ROA 2465). The State filed its response to the petition on June 19, 2002 (10 ROA 2481). The evidentiary hearing took place before the Honorable Michael Douglas on September 13, 2002 (11 ROA 2554). Subsequently, on June 3, 2004, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (11 ROA 2745). It denied the petition as to the guilt phase issues, granted the petition as to the sentence, and ordered a new sentencing hearing (11 ROA 2748, 2278).

On June 18, 2004, the State filed its notice of appeal to this Court (11 ROA 2757). On June 24, 2004, Chappell filed a notice of cross-appeal (11 ROA 2761). On April 7, 2006, this Court issued its Order of Affirmance in which it upheld the district court's decision (11 ROA 2783). Of relevance to this petition, is this Court's conclusion that there was no merit to the arguments presented concerning jury instructions (11 ROA 2790)(citing <u>Garner v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 770, 788-789, 6 P.3d 1013, 1025 (2000)). This Court also found the aggravating circumstances of burglary and robbery to be invalid under <u>McConnell v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004)(11 ROA 2792-2795). The remittitur issued on may 4, 2006 (11 ROA 2797).

The second penalty phase began on March 12, 2007 (19 ROA 3932). Following closing arguments, the jury returned their verdicts (15 ROA 3737, 3821). They found the aggravating circumstance of murder committed during the perpetration of a sexual assault (15 ROA 3737, 3822). The mitigating special verdict form listed the following mitigators: Chappell suffered from substance

abuse, he had no father figure in his life, he was raised in an abusive household, was the victim of physical abuse as a child, he was born to a drug/alcohol addicted mother, he suffered from a learning disability, and was raised in a depressed housing area (15 ROA 3739-3740, 3822-3823). The jury did not find the mitigating circumstance that Chappell's mother was killed when he was very young, that he was the victim of mental abuse as a child, and other mitigating circumstances that were asserted to exist by Chappell's counsel (15 ROA 3755). The jury found that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstance (15 ROA 3738, 3822-3823). The special verdict form for the weighing equation did not indicate that it was the State's burden to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances (15 ROA 3738). The jury returned a sentence of death (15 ROA 3741).

Formal sentencing took place on may 10, 2007 (19 ROA 4015, 4018). The judgment of conviction was filed the same day (15 ROA 3854). The district court ordered the judgment stayed pending appeal (19 ROA 4019; 15 ROA 3861). A timely notice of appeal was filed on June 8, 2007 (16 ROA 3872).

The Opening Brief was filed on June 9, 2008. was filed on October 23, 2008. This Court filed its Order of Affirmance on October 20, 2009. The Order

Denying Rehearing was filed on December 16, 2009. On May 11, 2010, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied. On June 8, 2010, this Court filed its remittitur.

Chappell filed a timely Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on June 22, 2010. A supplemental brief was filed on February 15, 2012 (20 ROA 4562). The State's Response was filed on May 16, 2012 (20 ROA 4431). A Reply brief was filed on July 30, 2012 (20 ROA 4491). Argument on the petition was held and Mr. Chappell's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied on October 19, 2012 (21 ROA 4706). The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on November 16, 2012 (20 ROA 4527). Mr. Chappell filed a timely notice of appeal on October 22, 2012 (20 ROA 4515). This Opening Brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of facts are enunciated in Mr. Chappell's supplemental brief (20 ROA 4569-4582).

ARGUMENT

I. <u>MR. CHAPPELL IS ENTITLED TO A REVERSAL OF THE</u> <u>DISTRICT COURT'S DENIAL OF THE POST-CONVICTION WRIT</u> <u>BASED UPON THE DISTRICT COURT'S REFUSAL TO GRANT AN</u> <u>EVIDENTIARY HEARING</u>.

On February 15, 2012, Mr. Chappell filed a sixty-two page supplemental brief in support of defendant's writ of habeas corpus. Mr. Chappell specifically

requested the district court entertain an evidentiary hearing so that he could ineffective assistance.

On February 15, 2012, Mr. Chappell filed a motion for the authorization to obtain expert services and payment of fees at state expense (20 ROA pp. 4485).

In the motion, Mr. Chappell requested permission to retain an expert on the effects of fetal alcohol disorder. There was evidence that Mr. Chappell's mother may have been addicted to drugs and alcohol. Yet, there was no indication of the voluminous file that counsel investigated the possibility of fetal alcohol syndrome. Mr. Chappell also requested permission to obtain a full neurological examination of Mr. Chappell including but not limited to a PET Scan.

Additionally, Mr. Chappell filed a motion for the appointment of an investigator (20 ROA 4550).

At the conclusion of the briefing, a status check was held on August 29, 2012. At the August 29, 2012 hearing, Mr. Chappell and the State agreed that the district court should entertain oral argument on the briefs and the motions for the appointment of an investigator and experts (20 ROA 4415).

Oral argument was heard on October 19, 2012. During the argument, the district court indicated that she was "not persuaded" that there was ineffective assistance of counsel (20 ROA 4418). At the conclusion of the relatively brief oral

argument, the district court denied Mr. Chappell's request for the appointment of experts and an investigator. Mr. Chappell was denied the opportunity to present evidence at a meaningful evidentiary hearing. Mr. Chappell's writ was denied.

Mr. Chappell would respectfully request that this Court consider the denial of his reasonable requests to supplement the record proving ineffective assistance of counsel. Mr. Chappell's issues enunciated within this brief establish that he was entitled to his reasonable requests for experts/investigator and an evidentiary hearing.

A petitioner is entitled to an evidentiary hearing where the petitioner raises a colorable claim of ineffective assistance. <u>Smith v. McCormick</u>, 914 F.2d 1153, 1170 (9th Cir.1990); <u>Hendricks v. Vasquez</u>, 974 F.2d 1099, 1103, 1109-10 (9th Cir.1992). <u>See also Morris v. California</u>, 966 F.2d 448, 454 (9th Cir.1991) (remand for evidentiary hearing required where allegations in petitioner's affidavit raise inference of deficient performance); <u>Harich v. Wainwright</u>, 813 F.2d 1082, 1090 (11th Cir.1987) ("[W]here a petitioner raises a colorable claim of ineffective assistance, and where there has not been a state or federal hearing on this claim, we must remand to the district court for an evidentiary hearing."); <u>Porter v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, 805 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 1986) (without the aid of an evidentiary hearing, the court cannot conclude whether attorneys properly investigated a case or whether their decisions concerning evidence were made for tactical reasons).

In the instant case, an evidentiary hearing was necessary to question counsel. Mr. Chappell's counsel fell below a standard of reasonableness. More importantly, based on the failures of counsel, Mr. Chappell was severely prejudiced, pursuant to <u>Strickland v.Washington</u>, 466 U. S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 205, (1984).

Under the facts presented here, an evidentiary hearing was mandated to determine whether the performance of counsel were effective, to determine the prejudicial impact of the errors and omissions noted in the petition, and to ascertain the truth in this case.

II. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF</u> <u>COUNSEL.</u>

To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is sufficient to

invalidate a judgment of conviction, petitioner must demonstrate that:

- 1. counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,
- 2. counsel's errors were so severe that they rendered the verdict unreliable.

Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P. 2d 944, 946 (1994). (Citing

<u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U. S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 205, (1984)). Once the defendant establishes that counsels performance was deficient, the defendant must next show that, but for counsels error the result of the trial would probably have

been different. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at. 694, 104 S. Ct. 2068; <u>Davis v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 600, 601,602, 817 P. 2d 1169, 1170 (1991). The defendant must also demonstrate errors were so egregious as to render the result of the trial unreliable or the proceeding fundamentally unfair. <u>State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1145, 865 P.2d 322, 328 (1993), citing <u>Lockhart v. Fretwell</u>, 506 U. S. 364,113 S. Ct. 838 122 2d, 180 (1993); <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U. S. at 687 104 S. Ct. at 2064.

This Court has held a defendant has a right to effective assistance of appellate counsel on direct appeal. <u>Kirksey v. Nevada</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996).

The constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel extends to a direct appeal. <u>Burke v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1366, 1368, 887 P.2d 267, 268 (1994). A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is reviewed under the "reasonably effective assistance" test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

In the instant case, Mr. Chappell's proceedings were fundamentally unfair. The defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel. Based upon the following arguments:

 $\parallel \parallel$

III. MR. CHAPPELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF

COUNSEL DURING THE THIRD PENALTY PHASE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

In the instant case, penalty phase counsel failed to properly investigate and

prepare for the penalty phase. There are multiple instances identified by Mr.

Chappell included in this section.

- 1. Failure to obtain a P.E.T. Scan
- 2. Failure to test Mr. Chappell for the effects of fetal alcohol syndrom and/or being born to a drug addicted mother
- 3. Failure to properly prepare the expert witnesses: Dr. Etcoff, Dr. Grey, and Dr. Danton
- 4. Failure to present mitigation witnesses to the jury
- 5. Failure to obtain an expert regarding pre-ejaculation fluids
- 6. Failure to present lay witnesses

Pretrial investigation is a critical area in any criminal case and the failure to

accomplish the investigation has been held to constitute ineffective assistance of

counsel. In Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 537 P.2d 473 (1975), this Court held,

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