IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Apr 08 2014 01:00 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

JAMES CHAPPELL,

Appellant,

Case No. 61967

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar #004349 520 South Fourth Street, 2nd Fl. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 384-5563

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

As to second appellate counsel's alleged deficiency in failing to raise this issue on appeal, Chappell again fails to articulate any cogent argument besides making the blanket statement that "pursuant to the prejudice standard enunciated in Strickland, the result of the appeal would have mandated reversal." AOB 45. Again, this is completely insufficient to meet his burden on appeal to warrant him relief for this claim. See Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 503, 686 P.2d at 225. Moreover, even if counsel had raised this issue on appeal, the claim would have been subject to a plain error analysis⁹ and there is nothing to suggest that Chappell could have shown the error affected his substantial rights by causing actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice for this Court to grant relief. As Chappell has not demonstrated he suffered any prejudice as a result of the State's impeachment, it would have been futile for counsel to raise this issue on appeal and counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile arguments. See Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Similarly, even if counsel had appealed this meritless issue, Chappell fails to show that this Court would have reversed his conviction due to this alleged error given the

-

⁹ Generally, failure to object to alleged prosecutorial misconduct precludes appellate review unless the error is plain error. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008). Under plain error review, reversal is not warranted unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights by causing actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice. <u>Id.</u> In determining prejudice, this Court considers whether a comment had: 1) a prejudicial impact on the verdict when considered in the context of the trial as a whole or 2) seriously affects the integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 123 Nev. 194, 208-209, 163 P.3d 408, 418 (1997).

overwhelming evidence that a sentence of death was appropriate in this case. <u>See</u> 1 RA 30. Accordingly, this claim is without merit and must be denied.

VIII.

CHAPPELL'S CLAIM OF DISTRICT COURT ERROR IN ALLOWING THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE OF SEVERAL BAD ACTS IS NOT COGNIZABLE IN THIS APPEAL.

In Ground VII of his supplemental petition, Chappell claimed the District Court erred by allowing the "prior bad act" testimony of witness LaDonna Jackson. 20 AA 4604. The District Court summarily dismissed this claim noting that Chappell should have raised this claim on direct appeal from his Judgment of Conviction, and indeed as Chappell *did* raise this claim on direct appeal, found this claim was barred both procedurally and by the doctrine of law of the case. 20 AA 4530.

The District Court properly dismissed this claim. As an initial matter, this claim is barred by the doctrine of the law of the case because it has already been decided and denied by this Court. Where the Court decides an issue on the merits, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798-99. "[T]he law of first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Id. at 315, 535 P.2d at 798. Chappell raised this issue on direct appeal from his Judgment of Conviction, which rejected by this Court in 1998 on appeal from Chappell's jury trial. See 9 AA 2275-76 (holding that the District Court's decision to admit evidence of Chappell's prior bad acts without a Petrocelli hearing was harmless error).

Therefore, because this Court previously addressed and dismissed this claim, the Court's ruling is the law of the case and further consideration of the issue is precluded.

Furthermore, this claim must be dismissed because claims of district court error are only appropriate on direct appeal, not in a post-conviction habeas petition. See Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)); see also NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2). As Chappell does not even attempt to articulate good cause or prejudice to explain his procedural default; see State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005) (explaining that the application of procedural bars is mandatory), Chappell's attempt to re-raise this claim in a post-conviction proceeding is wholly improper and must be summarily dismissed.

IX. THE DEATH PENALTY IS CONSTITUTIONAL

In Ground VIII of his supplemental petition, Chappell claimed the death penalty was unconstitutional and therefore his conviction should be vacated. 20 AA 4606-13. The District Court summarily dismissed this claim noting that Chappell should have raised this claim on direct appeal, but did not, and therefore the claim was procedurally barred from review. 20 AA 4530.

While Chappell acknowledges in his instant appeal that this Court has repeatedly affirmed the constitutionality of Nevada's death penalty scheme, Chappell nonetheless raises various challenges to the constitutionality of the death penalty and Nevada's capital punishment scheme. AOB at 47. While the State notes that claims regarding the constitutionality of the death penalty were appropriate for direct appeal and are therefore barred pursuant to NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2), the State out of an abundance of caution will briefly respond to each issue.

A. Nevada's Capital Sentencing Scheme Sufficiently Narrows the Class of Person Eligible for the Death Penalty.

Chappell argues that Nevada's death penalty scheme does not narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty, insisting that Nevada law permits broad imposition of the death penalty for virtually all First-Degree Murders. AOB 49. However, this Court has repeatedly concluded that Nevada's death penalty scheme sufficiently narrows the class of people eligible for the death penalty. See Thomas v. State, 122 Nev. at 1361, 1373, 148 P.3d 727, 735-36 (2006); Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 585, 119 P.3d 107, 128 (2005); Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 82-83, 17 P.3d 397, 415-16 (2001); Middleton v. State, 114 Nev. 1089, 1116-17, 968 P.2d 296, 314-15 (1998).

Additionally, this Court has found that the statutory scheme to be properly narrow on numerous occasions. See Servin v. State, 117 Nev. 775, 785-786, 32 P.3d 1277, 1285 (2001); Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 370-371, 23 P.3d 227, 242

(2001); see also Evans, 117 Nev. 609, 637, 28 P.3d 498, 517-518 (2001); Deutscher v. State, 95 Nev. 669, 676, 601 P.2d 407, 412 (1979). This Court's past decisions regarding the constitutionality of the Nevada scheme apply to this instant case and this Court should again find that Nevada's capital sentencing scheme sufficiently narrows the class of persons eligible.

B. The Death Penalty Does Not Violate The Prohibition Against Cruel and Unusual Punishment.

Despite Chappell's assertions to the contrary, this Court has found that the death penalty does not violate the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment found in either the United States Constitution or the Nevada Constitution. <u>See</u> Bishop v. State, 95 Nev. 511, 517-18, 597 P.2d 273, 276-77 (1979).

The United States Supreme Court upheld the death penalty in <u>Gregg v. Georgia</u>, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S. Ct. 2909 (1976). Additionally, the Nevada death penalty scheme has been repeatedly held to be constitutional and not cruel and/or unusual punishment under either the Nevada or United States constitutions. <u>See, e.g., Colwell v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 807, 814-15, 919 P.2d 403, 408 (1996). This Court explained in <u>Colwell</u>:

Finally, Colwell's counsel claims that the death penalty is cruel and unusual punishment in all circumstances in violation of the Eighth Amendment and the Nevada Constitution. Colwell's counsel concedes that the United States Supreme Court and this court have repeatedly upheld the general constitutionality of the death penalty under the Eighth Amendment. See, e.g., *Bishop*, 95 Nev.

at 517-18, 597 P.2d at 276-77. Colwell's counsel merely desires to preserve his argument should this court change its mind. We are not so inclined. We note that this court has also held that the death penalty is not unconstitutional under the Nevada Constitution. *Id.* Accordingly, we conclude that Colwell's counsel's claim on this issue lacks merit.

Id. at 814-815, 919 P.2d at 408.

As the death penalty in Nevada clearly does not amount to cruel and unusual punishment, Chappell's claim is without merit and must be denied.

C. Nevada's Clemency Scheme Is Constitutional.

Next, Chappell claims that his sentence must be vacated because Nevada's death penalty scheme is unconstitutional for failing to have a "functioning elemency procedure." AOB 52. However, the statutory procedures for administering a grant of clemency does not implicate a constitutionally protected interest. See Niergarth v. State, 105 Nev. 26, 28, 768 P.2d 882, 883 (1989); see generally Ohio Adult Parole Authority v. Woodard, 523 U.S. 272, 280-81 (1998) (noting that clemency is a matter of grace). The U.S. Supreme Court has made it clear that there is no constitutional right to a clemency hearing. See Connecticut Bd. of Pardons v. Dumschat, 452 U.S. 458, 464, 101 S.Ct. 2460 (1981) ("Unlike probation, pardon and commutation decisions have not traditionally been the business of the courts; as such, they are rarely, if ever, appropriate subjects for judicial review.... [A]n inmate has no 'constitutional or inherent right' to commutation of his sentence."); see also Joubert v. Nebraska Bd. of Pardons, 87 F.3d 966, 968 (8th Cir.1996) ("It is wellestablished that prisoners have no constitutional or fundamental right to clemency."), cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1035, 117 S.Ct. 1 (1996).

Furthermore, Nevada's clemency scheme was upheld in <u>Colwell</u>, 112 Nev. at 812, 919 P.2d at 406-7. As this Court stated: "NRS 213.085 does not completely deny the opportunity for 'clemency,' as Colwell's counsel contends, but rather modifies and limits the power of commutation. Accordingly, Colwell's counsel's claim lacks merit." <u>Id.</u> Chappell's argument essentially claims that Nevada's clemency laws and procedures must not be working because they are rarely exercised on behalf of defendants. However, Chappell argument lacks a logical step: Chappell merely points to *an* effect of the death penalty in Nevada, along with Chappell's assumed cause for that effect, but utterly ignores the lack of causal connection. Accordingly, Chappell's claim fails and must be denied.

X. CHAPPELL'S CLAIM THAT HIS CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE ARE INVALID BECAUSE THE PROCEEDINGS ALLEGEDLY VIOLATE INTERNATIONAL LAW IS NOT COGNIZABLE IN THIS APPEAL.

In Ground X of his supplemental petition, Chappell claimed that his conviction and death sentences were invalid because the proceedings against him violated international law. 20 AA 4617-19. Just like the above claim regarding the constitutionality of Nevada's death penalty scheme, the District Court summarily

dismissed this claim noting that Chappell should have raised this claim on direct appeal. 20 AA 4530.

Chappell raises this claim again on appeal, apparently disregarding the fact that this Court has consistently rejected challenges to the constitutionality of the death penalty based on international law. Servin v. State, 117 Nev. 775, 787-88, 32 P.3d 1277, 1285-86 (2001); see also Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 575 (2005). Chappell cites the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights in support of his claim. Notably, in Servin, 117 Nev. at 785-786, 32 P.3d at 1286, this Court quoted a portion of the United States' reservation from that covenant:

That the United States reserves the right, subject to its Constitutional constraints, to impose capital punishment on any person (other than a pregnant woman) duly convicted under existing or future laws permitting the imposition of capital punishment, including such punishment for crimes committed by persons below eighteen years of age.

Quoting 138 Cong.Rec. 8070 (1992); see also S.Exec.Rep. No. 23, 102d Cong., 2d Sess. 21-22 (1992)).

Thus, as this Court has upheld the death penalty in the face of international laws which defendants frequently cite, Chappell's claim fails to afford him relief.

XI.

CHAPPELL'S CLAIM REGARDING THE JURY INSTRUCTION ADMITTED AT TRIAL, WHICH DEFINED PREMEDITATION AND DELIBERATION, IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In Ground XI of his supplemental petition, Chappell claimed that "the jury instruction given defining premeditation and deliberation was constitutionally infirm." 20 AA 4619. Again, the District Court summarily dismissed this claim noting that Chappell should have raised this claim on direct appeal. 20 AA 4530.

Chappell raises this claim again on appeal notwithstanding the fact that Chappell's guilt phase claim of error is subject to various procedural bars. Chappell filed his petition more than thirteen years after this court issued the Remittitur from his direct appeal. Thus, Chappell's petition is untimely filed. See NRS 34.726(1). Moreover, Chappell's petition as it relates to his guilt phase is successive. See NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2). Chappell's petition was procedurally barred absent a demonstration of good cause and prejudice. See NRS 34.726(1); NRS 34.810(1)(b). As this Court has addressed this issue in his previous appeals, 1 RA 27-28, it is also barred by the doctrine of the law of the case. Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798-99.

Finally, as the State did in its May 16, 2012, response to Chappell's supplemental petition, the State again pleads laches. Therefore, Chappell is required to overcome the presumption of prejudice to the State. See NRS 34.800(2). Yet, Chappell again fails to articulate good cause to excuse his procedural defaults. Accordingly, this claim must be summarily dismissed by this Court. State v. Eighth

<u>Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. Cnty. of Clark</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005) (explaining that the application of procedural bars is mandatory).

XII. THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR TO WARRANT REVERSAL OF CHAPPELL'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE OF DEATH

In Ground XII of his supplemental petition, Chappell claimed that his conviction should be reversed based on the cumulative errors of counsel. 20 AA 4622. The District Court denied this claim stating that the cumulative prejudice of any alleged errors at Chappell's second penalty hearing were insufficient to have altered the outcome of the case. 20 AA 4530.

Chappell again argues that the above series of alleged errors, when taken together, amount to reversible error. AOB at 59. Under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although individual errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to a fair trial." Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994) abrogated on other grounds by Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001). Evidence against the defendant must therefore be "substantial enough to convict him in an otherwise fair trial" and it must be said "that the verdict would have been the same in the absence of the error." Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 724, 765 P.2d 1153, 1156 (1988).

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